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Report of the Directors      
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
The directors present their report and the audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 
31 December 2021.  
 
 
Incorporation 
 
D Foods Finance P.L.C. was incorporated on 21 May 2020. The Company is a fully owned subsidiary of 
Dizz Group of Companies Limited.  
 
 
Principal Activity 
 
The principal activity of D Foods Finance P.L.C. is to carry on business of a holding company of the 
food and beverage companies within the group. The activities of the Company and its subsidiaries 
are expected to remain consistent for the foreseeable future.  
 
 
Review of Business  
 
The year 2021 has been a challenging year. At a global level, the COVID-19 pandemic has disrupted 
business, but has also fundamentally altered the way, as well as the place from which business is 
conducted. In view of sharp economic downturn and the threat of massive unemployment, the government 
launched particular schemes to immediately address the shortage of liquidity. In this respect, the Group 
availed itself of the COVID-19 Wage Supplement Scheme, the Rent Refund Scheme and the Electricity 
Refund Scheme made available by Malta Enterprise. 
 
Furthermore, during the year, the Group commenced a corporate restructuring exercise aimed at 
streamlining operations of the subsidiaries into four key pillars: retail, food and beverage, property and 
financing. As part of this exercise, the Group incorporated D Foods Finance P.L.C. as the holding company 
of the food and beverage arm of the Group, and raised €3,000,000 Notes as the First Tranche of its 
base programme. Furthermore, as part of this transaction and in a bid to further consolidate its food and 
beverage side of business, the Group acquired DK Pascucci Limited, DCaffe Holding Ltd, D Kitchen Lab 
Limited and Xilema Limited.  
 
The Group registered a loss before tax of €242,859 (2020: €657,105). Revenue during the year was 
primarily attributable to food and beverage of €4,063,090 (2020: €2,057,894). It is envisaged that 
the income stream of the Company will remain relatively constant in accordance with the terms of 
agreement drawn up with the Guarantor. 
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Report of the Directors (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

Principal Risks and Uncertainties 

The Company is mainly dependent on the business prospects of its subsidiaries, and consequently, the 
operating results of the subsidiaries have a direct effect on the Company's financial position and 
performance.  

The Company's main assets are the investment in subsidiaries. Therefore, the ability of these subsidiaries 
to distribute dividends to the Company will depend on their respective cash flows and earnings. 

The food and beverage industry is marked by strong and increasing competition and many of the 
Group’s current and potential competitors may have longer operating histories, bigger name recognition, 
larger customer base and greater financial and other resources than the companies within the Group. 
Thus, the principal risks faced by the Group are loss of market share as a result of other participants 
entering the market, and negative developments in the economic environment including the pandemic, 
which has significantly disrupted the catering industry principally due to closure of outlets enforced by 
the government and social distancing measures introduced in an effort to curb the pandemic. 

The Group will continue to monitor developments in sales, customer preferences and the market in 
general, introducing new product offerings with the aim of returning the Group to sustainable 
profitability.  

Dividends and Reserves 

The directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend. 

Future Developments 

The Directors intend to continue to operate in line with the current business plan. 

Financial Risk Management 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including credit risk and liquidity risk. 
These are further analysed in note 24 of these financial statements.     

Events Subsequent to the Statement of Financial Position Date 

The directors assessed subsequent events from 1 January 2022 through  27 April 2022 , the date these 
financial statements were approved. Through such assessment, the directors have determined that events 
subsequent to balance sheet date occurred as reported in Note 26 to these financial statements. 
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Report of the Directors (continued)      
For the year ended 31 December 2021 
 
Directors 
 
The following have served as directors of the Company during the year under review: 
 

Ms Diane Izzo 
Mr Karl Izzo 

 
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association the present directors remain in office. 
 
 
Directors’ Interest 
 
The Directors’ beneficial interest in the shares of the Company as at 31 December 2021 is equal to a 
nominal value of €1 each held by Ms Diane Izzo. The directors are also the ultimate beneficial owners 
of the Dizz Group of Companies Limited.  
 
 
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities  
 
The Companies Act (Cap. 386) requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial 
period which give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company as at the end of the 
financial period and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period in accordance with the 
requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU.  In preparing these 
financial statements, the directors are required to: 
 

• adopt the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue 
in business; 

  

• select suitable accounting policies and apply them consistently from one accounting period to 
another; 

 

• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 

• account for income and charges relating to the accounting period on accruals basis; and 
 

• value separately the components of asset and liability items on a prudent basis. 
 
The directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable 
accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and to enable them to ensure that the financial 
statements comply with the Companies Act (Cap. 386).  They are also responsible for safeguarding the 
assets of the Group and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 
irregularities. 
 
The directors, through oversight of management are responsible to ensure that the Group establishes 
and maintains internal control to provide reasonable assurance with regards to reliability of financial 
reporting, effectiveness and efficiency of operations and compliance with applicable laws and 
regulations. 
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Report of the Directors (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities (continued) 

The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge: 

• the financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group at
31 December 2021, and of the financial performance and the cash flows for the period then
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU;
and

• the Annual Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business
and the position of the Group, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
that the Group faces.

Going Concern Statement 

After making enquiries and having taken into consideration the future plans of the Group, the directors 
have reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational 
existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they adopted the going concern basis in the 
preparation of the financial statements. The directors intend to continue to operate in line with the current 
business plan. 

Auditors 

KSi Malta have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution concerning their re-
appointment will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting. 

BY ORDER OF THE BOARD 

_____________________________ ____________________________ 
Ms Diane Izzo Mr Karl Izzo 
Director    Director 

27 April 2022 
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Corporate Governance - Statement of Compliance 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

Introduction 

The WSM Listing Rules issued by the Listing Authority of the Malta Financial Services Authority, require 
listed companies to observe The Code of Principles of Good Corporate Governance (the ‘Code’). 
Although the adoption of the Code is not obligatory, Listed Companies are required to include in their 
Annual Report, a Directors’ Statement of compliance which deals with the extent to which the Company 
has adopted the Code of Principles of Good Corporate Governance and the effective measures that 
the Company has taken to ensure compliance with the Code, accompanied by a report of the auditors 
thereon. 

Compliance 

The Board of Directors (the ‘Board’) of D Foods Finance P.L.C. (‘the Company’) believe in the adoption 
of the Code and has endorsed them except where the size and/or particular circumstances of the 
Company are deemed by the Board not to warrant the implementation of specific recommendations. The 
Company has issued Notes to the public and has no employees, accordingly some of the provisions are 
not applicable whilst others are applicable to a limited extent. 

In this context it is relevant to note that: (a) the Company is a subsidiary of Dizz Group of Companies 
Limited, whereby the latter is the guarantor of the €8 million 5% unsecured bond issued by Dizz Finance 
P.L.C.. Dizz Finance P.L.C. is a company listed on the Malta Stock Exchange which has a strong corporate 
governance in place; (b) the terms of reference of the audit committee of Dizz Finance P.L.C. also include 
Dizz Group of Companies Limited and all its underlying subsidiaries. Consequently, the audit committee 
of Dizz Finance P.L.C., through its oversight of the Dizz Group of Companies Limited, has an overseeing 
responsibility of the Company. 

The Board 

The Board of Directors is responsible for devising a strategy, setting policies and the management of the 
Company. Directors, individually and collectively, are of appropriate calibre, with the necessary skill 
and experience to assist them in providing leadership, integrity, and judgement in directing the Company 
towards the maximisation of shareholder value. It is also responsible for reviewing internal control 
procedures, financial performance and business risks facing the Company. The Board is also responsible 
for making relevant public announcements, decisions relating to the redemption of the Bond, and for 
monitoring that its operations are in conformity with the Prospectus and all relevant rules and regulations. 

Following the issue of debt securities on 3 August 2020, the Board has monitored the performance of 
the Company. As Company’s board consists solely of two executive directors, the audit committee set up 
at Dizz Finance P.L.C. which consist of three non-executive directors, oversees the Company on an ongoing 
basis.  

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer 

Due to the size structure of the Company and nature of its operations, the Company does not employ a 
Chief Executive Officer (CEO). This function is taken by its director, Diane Izzo.  

The day-to-day running of the business is vested with Diane Izzo. 

The Chairman is responsible to lead the Board and sets its agenda. 
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Corporate Governance - Statement of Compliance (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

Complement of the Board 

As at 31 December 2021, the Board consists of two executive directors as follows: 

Diane Izzo – Executive Director / Chairperson 
Karl Izzo – Executive Director 

The Directors of the Company shall be appointed by the shareholders in the annual general meeting of 
the Company. Save for the provisions included in Article 55.3 of the Articles of Association of the 
Company, an election of Directors shall take place every year. 

Internal Controls 

The Board is responsible for the internal control system of the Company and for reviewing its 
effectiveness. The internal control system is designed to achieve business objectives and to manage the 
risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable assurance against material 
error, losses and fraud.  

Systems and procedures are in place to control, monitor, report and assess risks and their financial 
implications. Management accounts, budgets and strategic plans are prepared on a regular basis and 
are presented to the Board to monitor the performance of the Company on an on-going basis. 

Composition of the Board and Committees 

Directors meet regularly, mainly to review the financial performance of the Company and its subsidiaries, 
and to review internal control processes. Board members are notified of forthcoming meetings by the 
Company Secretary with the issue of an agenda and supporting Board papers, which are circulated well 
in advance of the meeting. The directors have access to independent professional advice at the 
Company’s expense should they so require. 

The Directors are obliged to keep the Board advised, on an ongoing basis, of any interest that could 
potentially conflict with that of the Company. The Board member concerned shall not take part in the 
assessment by the Board as to whether a conflict of interest exists. A Director shall not vote in respect of 
any contract, arrangement, transaction or proposal in which he has a material interest. 

Composition of the Board and Committees 

The Board formally met one time during the period under review. The number of board members 
attended by directors for the period ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:  

Meetings 

Diane Izzo 5 
Karl Izzo 5 

Committees 

The Directors believe that, due to the Company’s size and operation, the remuneration, evaluation and 
nominations committees that are suggested in the Code are not required, and that the function of these 
can efficiently be undertaken by the Board itself. However, going forward, the Board shall on an annual 
basis undertake a review of the remuneration paid to the Directors and shall carry out an evaluation of 
their performance and of the audit committee. The shareholders approve the remuneration paid to the 
Directors at the annual general meeting.  
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Corporate Governance - Statement of Compliance (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

Audit Committee 

As the Issuer’s shareholders are private stakeholders, and also given the size, nature and (lack of) 
complexity of the Issuer’s business, the Directors have determined that it is not necessary, appropriate or 
feasible to establish an audit committee. The functions normally assigned to an audit committee were 
performed by the Board of Directors as a whole. Furthermore, as previously stated, the terms of 
reference of the audit committee of Dizz Finance P.L.C. also include Dizz Group of Companies Limited 
and all its underlying subsidiaries. Consequently, the audit committee of Dizz Finance P.L.C, through its 
oversight of the Dizz Group of Companies Limited, had an oversight responsibility of the Company. 

Remuneration Statement 

The Directors have not received remuneration during the year 31 December 2021. Going forward, it is 
the shareholders of the Company in General Meeting who shall determine the maximum annual 
aggregate remuneration of the Directors. The remuneration of Directors is a fixed amount per annum 
and does not include any variable component relating to profit sharing, share options or pension benefits. 

None of the Directors is employed or has a service contract with the Company. 

Relations with Bondholders and the Market 

The Company prepares annual financial statements. Following the listing of the Company’s €10 million 
Secured Convertible Notes Programme on the Institutional Financial Securities Market (IFSM) of the Malta 
Stock Exchange in August 2020 of which €3 million have been subscribed to as at year end, the Company 
shall publish annual financial statements and, when required, company announcements.  

Conflicts of Interest 

The Directors are aware of their responsibility to always act in the interest of the Company and its 
shareholders as a whole, irrespective of who appointed them to the Board. In accordance with the 
Company’s Articles of Association, the Directors shall be obliged to disclose their interest in a contract, 
arrangement or proposal with the Company in accordance with Article 145 of the Act and a Director 
shall not vote at a meeting of Directors in respect of any contract, arrangement or proposal in which he 
has a material interest, whether direct or indirect.  

During the financial year under review, no private interests or duties unrelated to the Company were 
disclosed by the Directors which were or could have been likely to place any of them in conflict with any 
interests in, or duties towards, the Company. Both Diane Izzo and Karl Izzo have a direct beneficial 
interest in the share capital of the Company, given that they are the ultimate beneficial owners of the 
Dizz Group. Consequently, they are susceptible to conflicts arising between the potentially diverging 
interests of themselves as shareholders and the interests of the Company.  

Corporate Social Responsibility 

The Directors are committed to high standards of ethical conduct and to contribute to the development 
of the well-being of the local community and society at large. 

Signed on behalf of the Board of Directors on 27 April 2022 by: 

_________________________ _________________________ 
Ms Diane Izzo Mr Karl Izzo 
Director   Director 
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Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the shareholders of D Foods Finance P.L.C. 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of D Foods Finance P.L.C. (the Company), set out on pages 
13 to 56, which comprise the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2021, and the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to 
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects the 
financial position of the Group and Company as at 31 December 2021, and of its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU and have been prepared in accordance with the 
requirements of the Companies Act (Cap. 386). 

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the audit committee. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the 
Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in 
accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) together with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in accordance with the Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for 
Warrant Holders) Directive issued in terms of the Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281) in Malta, 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the 
IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. 

To the best of our knowledge and belief, we declare that we have not provided non-audit services 
to the Company in accordance with the applicable law and regulations in Malta and that we have 
not provided non-audit services that are prohibited under Article 18A of the Accountancy Profession 
Act (Cap. 281). 

Emphasis of Matter 

We draw attention to Note 3.1.1 of the financial statements, which describes the effects of COVID-
19 on the Group’s operations. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued) 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in 
our audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the 
context of our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and 
we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.  

Notes 

As at 31 December 2021 the Company held € 3,000,000 Notes having a coupon rate of 3% to a 
private investor through WSM Listing Rules issued by the Listing Authority of the Malta Financial 
Services Authority.  

During the audit process we ascertained ourselves that the proceeds from the Notes were being 
utilised as per the admission document. The results of our testing were satisfactorily, and we conclude 
that the Notes proceeds and usage are disclosed in the audited accounts accordingly. 
Revenue   

The Group generates its revenue from the sale of food and beverages operating under the various 
franchise names as detailed in these accounts. We have identified revenue as a key audit matter 
since most of the sales to the end customers are made in cash.  

We obtained an understanding of the methodology used by management to arrive at 
revenue recognition as well as the handling of cash proceeds generated from the end of 
day report to the time it is deposited in the bank account of the subsidiaries. Based on the audit work 
done we obtained sufficient audit evidence that the Group’s revenue for the period ended 
31 December 2021 is not materially misstated.  

Other Information 

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Report 
of the Directors, the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities and the Corporate Governance 
Statement of Compliance. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover this information. In 
connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the 
other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise 
appears to be materially misstated.  

Report on Corporate Governance 

The WSM Listing Rules issued by the Listing Authority of the Malta Financial Services Authority require 
the Directors to prepare and include in their Annual Report a Statement of Compliance providing an 
explanation of the extent to which they have adopted the Code of Principles of Good Corporate 
Governance and the effective measures that they have taken to ensure compliance throughout the 
accounting period with those Principles. 

The WSM Listing Rules also require the auditors to include a report on the Statement of Compliance 
prepared by the Directors. 

We read the Statement of Compliance and consider the implications for our report if we become 
aware of any apparent misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial statements 
included in the Annual Report. Our responsibilities do not extend to considering whether this statement 
is consistent with any other information included in the annual return. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued) 

Report on Corporate Governance (continued) 

We are not required to, and we do not, consider whether the Board's Statements on internal control 
included in the Statement of Compliance cover all risks and controls, or form an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Company's corporate governance procedures or its risk and control procedures. 

In our opinion, the Statement of Compliance set out on pages 5 to 7 has been properly prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the WSM Listing Rules issued by the Listing Authority of the 
Malta Financial Services Authority 

We also read Other Information contained in the Annual Report and consider whether it is consistent 
with the audited financial statements.  Our responsibilities do not extend to any other information. 

With respect to the Report of the Directors, we also considered whether the Report of the Directors 
includes the disclosures required by Article 177 of the Companies Act (Cap. 386). Based on the work 
we have performed, in our opinion: 

• the information given in the Report of the Directors for the financial year for which the
financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and

• the Report of the Directors has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act (Cap.
386). 

In addition, in light of the knowledge and understanding of the Company and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we are required to report if we have identified material 
misstatements in the Report of the Directors. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of the Directors 

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give 
a true and fair view in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by 
the EU, and for such internal controsl as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate 
the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities For The Audit Of The Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to 
issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists.  

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued) 

Auditor’s Responsibilities For The Audit Of The Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls.

• Obtain an understanding of internal controls relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in
our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements,
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal controls 
that we identify during our audit. 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception under the Companies Act 

Our Responsibilities 

We have responsibilities under the Companies Act, 1995 enacted in Malta to report to you if, in our 
opinion: 

• The information given in the Report of the Directors is not consistent with the financial statements.

• Adequate accounting records have not been kept.

• The financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

• We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Our Opinion  

We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities. 
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued) 

Matters on which we are required to report by exception under the Companies Act (continued) 

Use of our Report 

Our report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the Parent Company’s 
shareholders as a body in accordance with Article 179 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) 
and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for 
any other purpose or to any other person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may 
come save where expressly agreed by our prior written consent. 

Auditor Tenure 

We were first appointed as auditors of the Company on 11 January 2021. Our appointment has 
been renewed annually by shareholder resolution representing a total period of uninterrupted 
engagement appointment of 2 years. 

Joseph Gauci (Partner) for and on behalf of 
KSi Malta 
Certified Public Accountants 

Balzan 
Malta 

27 April 2022 
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Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

Group  Company 
2021 2020 2021 2020 

(7 months) (7 months) 
Notes € € € € 

Revenue 6 4,063,090    2,057,894 - - 

Cost of sales (2,016,786) (1,028,467) - - 
__________ __________ __________ __________ 

Gross profit  2,046,304 1,029,427 - - 

Other Income 7 533,400 217,803 -      49,233 
Marketing expenses 8 (158,658) (39,024) - - 
Amortisation of intangible assets (8,800) (5,133) - (5,358) 

Amortisation of right of use assets (217,790) (107,955) - - 

Depreciation of property, plant and 
equipment (266,958) (155,747) - - 
Administrative expenses (1,949,068) (1,499,399) (56,470) - 

Finance costs 9 (221,289) (97,077) (98,440) (42,783) 
__________ __________ __________ __________ 

(Loss)/Profit before tax 5 (242,859) (657,105) (154,910) 1,092 

Income tax 11 (24,076) 93,158 - - 
__________ __________ __________ __________ 

(Loss)/Profit for the year (266,935) (563,947) (154,910) 1,092 
__________ __________ __________ __________ 

Other comprehensive Income for the year 

Other Comprehensive Income, net of income 
tax - - - - 

__________ __________ __________ __________ 

Total comprehensive (loss)/income for the 
year (266,935) (563,947) (154,910) 1,092 

__________ __________ __________ __________ 

Loss per share 12 (0.07) (0.20) (0.04) - 
__________ __________ __________ __________ 

The notes on pages 19 to 56 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Balance Sheet 
As at 31 December 2021 

Group  Company 
2021 2020 2021 2020 

Notes € € € € 
Assets 

Property, plant and equipment 13 1,304,459 1,518,013 - - 

Right of use assets 14 1,043,785 688,327 - - 

Intangible assets 15 52,800 61,600 - - 

Investment in subsidiaries 16 - - 6,140,561 6,141,761 

Deferred tax assets 11 303,127 327,203 - - 

Goodwill on investment in subsidairy 16 6,446,262 6,446,262 - - 

__________ __________ __________ __________ 

Total non-current assets 9,150,433 9,041,405 6,140,561 6,141,761 

__________ __________ __________ __________ 

Inventories 17 436,522 381,975 - - 

Trade and other receivables 18 3,728,156 292,417 3,013,551 158,962 

Cash and cash equivalents 23 22,145 79,685 995 51,198 

__________ __________ __________ __________ 

Total current assets 4,186,823 754,077 3,014,546 210,160 

__________ __________ __________ __________ 

Total assets 13,337,256 9,795,482 9,155,107 6,351,921 

__________ __________ __________ __________ 

Equity 

Share capital 19 3,279,286 3,279,286 3,279,286 3,279,286 

(Accumulated losses)/Retained 
earnings 19 (830,882) (563,947) (153,818) 1,092 

__________ __________ __________ __________ 

2,448,404 2,715,339 3,125,468 3,280,378 
__________ __________ __________ __________ 
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Consolidtaed Balance Sheet (continued) 
As at 31 December 2021 

Group  Company 
2021 2020 2021 2020 

Notes € € € € 

Liabilities 

Borrowings 20 285,541 332,082 - - 
Lease liability 21 993,242 589,337 - - 
Borrowings  20 2,948,479 2,950,052 2,948,480 2,950,052 
Trade and other payables 22 267,428 259,932 - - 

__________ __________ __________ __________ 

Total non-current liabilities 4,494,690 4,131,403 2,948,480 2,950,052 
__________ __________ __________ __________ 

Borrowings 20 165,573 133,663 - - 
Lease liability 21 186,890 149,107 - - 
Trade and other payables 22 5,947,338 2,565,996 3,081,159 121,491 
Current tax liabilities 11 94,362 99,974 - - 

__________ __________ __________ __________ 

Total current liabilities 6,394,163 2,948,740 3,081,859 121,491 

__________ __________ __________ __________ 

Total liabilities 10,888,853 7,080,143 6,029,639 3,071,543 

__________ __________ __________ __________ 

Total equity and liabilities 13,337,257 9,795,482 9,155,107 6,351,921 

__________ __________ __________ __________ 

The consolidated financial statements on pages 13 to 56 were approved and authorised for issue by the Board on 
27 April 2022 and were signed on its behalf by: 

_____________________________ _____________________________ 
Ms Diane Izzo  Mr Karl Izzo 
Director    Director 
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity   
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

Group 
Share Accumulated 

capital losses Total 

€ € € 

Changes in equity for the period 

Issue of share capital 3,279,286 - 3,279,286 

Loss for the period - (563,947) (563,947) 

_________ _________ _________ 

Balance at 31 December 2020 3,279,286 (563,947) 2,715,339 

_________ _________ _________ 

Changes in equity for the year 

Balance as at 1 January 2021 3,279,286 (563,947) 2,715,340 

Loss for the year - (266,935) (266,935) 

_________ _________ _________ 

Balance at 31 December 2021 3,279,286 (830,882) 2,448,405 

_________ _________ _________ 

Company 
Share Accumulated 

capital losses Total 

€ € € 

Changes in equity for the period 

Issue of share capital 3,279,286 - 3,279,286 

Profit for the period - 1,092 1,092 

_________ _________ _________ 

Balance at 31 December 2020 3,279,286 1,092 3,280,378 

_________ _________ _________ 

Changes in equity for the year 

Balance as at 1 January 2021 3,279,286 1,092 3,280,378 

Loss for the year - (154,910) (154,910) 

_________ _________ _________ 

Balance at 31 December 2021 3,279,286 (153,818) 3,125,468 

_________ _________ _________ 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows   
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

Group  Company 
2021 2020 2021 2020 

(7months) (7months) 
€ € € € 

Cash flows from operating 
activities: 
(Loss)/Profit before tax  (242,859) (657,105) (154,910) 1,092 

Adjustments for: 
Depreciation 266,957 155,747 - - 
Depreciation of right of use assets 217,790 107,955 - - 
Finance cost leasing 62,947 15,637 - - 
Amortisation of intangible assets  8,800 5,133 - - 
Amortisation of bond expenses  6,440 5,550 6,440 5,550 
Profit on disposal of property, 
plant and equipment (24,300) 
Covid rent discount - (9,744) - 
Interest payable on notes 90,000 37,233 90,000 37,233 
Bank interest payable 22,519 14,778 - - 
Loan interest payable 9,827 23,624 - - 
Expected credit losses 30,963 - 18,897 - 

________ ________ ________ ________ 

Operating profit/(loss) before 
working capital changes: 449,084 (301,192) (39,573) 43,875 
Movement in receivables (64,440) (105,970) (11,548) (7,110) 
Movement in payables (169,072) 343,984 (43,013) 30,616 
Movement in inventories (54,547) (55,297) - - 
Loan interest paid  (32,346) (14,778) - - 
Note interest paid (90,000) (23,624) (90,000) - 
Tax paid (5,612) - - - 

________ ________ ________ ________ 

Net cash generated from/(used in) 
operating activities 33,067 (156,877) (184,134) 67,381 

________ ________ ________ ________ 

Cash flows from financing 
activities 
Proceeds on issue of shares - 1,200 - 1,200 
Net proceeds from issue of notes (8,014) 2,944,502 (8,014) 2,944,502 
Proceeds from/(Payments to) 
related companies 252,851 336,241 140,745 (98,102) 
Payment finance lease liabilities (194,510) (72,034) - - 
Payment of bank laons (52,841) (37,766) - - 
Proceeds from third parties - 114,909 - - 
Proceeds from related parties - 63,556 - - 

__________ __________ __________ __________ 

Net cash (used in)/generated from 
financing activities (2,514) 3,350,608 132,731 2,847,492 

__________ __________ __________ __________ 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

Group  Company 
2021 2020 2021 2020 

(7months) (7months) 
Note € € € € 

Cash flows from investing 
activities 
Investments in subsidiaries - (2,906,494) - (2,906,494) 
Proceeds from disposal of shares 
in subsidiary - 42,819 1,200 42,819 
Additions to property, plant and 
equipment (126,303) (215,933) - - 

_________ __________ __________ __________ 

Net cash (used in)/generated from 
investing activities (126,303) (3,079,608) 1,200 (2,863,675) 

_________ __________ __________ __________ 

Net movement in cash and cash 
equivalents (95,750) 114,123 (50,203) 51,198 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
beginning of year/period 32,699 - 51,198 - 

Adjustment for cash and cash 
equivalents of subsidiaries 
acquired by the Group - (81,424) - - 

_________ __________ __________ __________ 

Cash and cash equivalents at 
end of year/period 23 (63,051) 32,699 995 51,198 

_________ __________ __________ __________ 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements  
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

1 REPORTING ENTITY AND OTHER INFORMATION 

D Foods Finance P.L.C. is a limited liability company domiciled and incorporated in Malta. The company’s 
registered office is Dizz Buildings, Carob Street, St. Venera. The company is to act as a finance, investment 
and property-holding company for lease to third parties and related companies.  The financial statements 
are presented in Euro, which is the Company’s functional currency.  

1.1 APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

The financial statements were approved by the board of directors and authorised for  issue on 
27 April 2022.  

The following is a list of retail outlets that operate within the Group: 

Brand Subsidiary Address 

Caffe’ Pascucci DK Pascucci Limited Triq il-Kappilan Mifsud, St Venera 

Caffe’ Pascucci DK Pascucci Limited Dragonara Road, Paceville, St Julians 

Caffe’ Pascucci DK Pascucci Limited Bay Street Complex, St George’s Road St Julians 

Caffe’ Pascucci DK Pascucci Limited Centerparc, Triq it-Tigrija, Qormi 

Caffe’ Pascucci DK Pascucci Limited Tigne Point Mall, Pjazza Tigne Sliema

Caffe’ Pascucci DK Pascucci Limited Triq il-Gzira, Gzira 

Pastrocchio Xilema Limited The Strand, Sliema 

Salad Box Xilema Limited Triq it-Torri, Sliema 

Nespresso DCaffe Limited Triq Valletta, il Mosta, Pama Shopping Mall 

Nespresso DCaffe Limited Triq l-Imdina, Birkirkara 

Nespresso DCaffe Limited Centerparc, Triq it-Tigrija, Qormi 

Nespresso DCaffe Limited Tigne Point Mall, Pjazza Tigne Sliema 

Pastrocchio DCaffe Limited Triq l-Imdina, Birkirkara 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

 
 
2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRSs)  
 

Amendments and interpretations applicable for the first time in 2021 shown here under have been 
implemented. The application of the below standards and interpretations do not have an impact on the 
financial statements of the Company.  
  

Standard  Subject of amendment  Effective date  

      

IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts Amendments regarding replacement issues in 
the context of the IBOR reform  

 
1 January 2021  

 
 

 

IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: 
Disclosures 

Amendments regarding pre-replacement 
issues in the context of the IBOR reform  

 
1 January 2021 

 
 

 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Amendments regarding pre-replacement 
issues in the context of the IBOR reform  

 
1 January 2021  

 
 

 

IFRS 16 Leases  Amendments regarding replacement issues in 
the context of the IBOR reform 
  

 
1 January 2021 

 
 
     

IAS 39 Financial Instruments: 
Recognition and Measurement 

Amendments regarding replacement issues in 
the context of the IBOR reform 

 
1 January 2021 

http://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ifrs/ifrs2
https://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ias/ias39
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS 
(IFRSs) (continued) 

Standards issued but not yet effective 

The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date 
of issuance of the Company’s financial statements are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt 
these new and amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, when they become effective.   

Standard Subject of amendment Effective date 

IFRS 16 Leases Amendment to extend the exemption from 
assessing whether a COVID-19 related rent 
concession is a lease modification 

1 April 2021 

IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of 
International Financial 
Reporting Standards 

Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements 
to IFRS Standards 2018–2020 (subsidiary as a 
first-time adopter) 

1 January 2022 

IFRS 3 Business Combinations Amendments updating a reference to 
the Conceptual Framework 

1 January 2022 

IFRS 4 Insurance Contracts Amendments regarding the expiry date of the 
deferral approach 

1 January 2023 

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments Amendments resulting from Annual Improvements 
to IFRS Standards 2018–2020 (fees in the ‘10 
per cent’ test for derecognition of financial 
liabilities) 

1 January 2022 

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts Original issue 

Amendments to address concerns and 
implementation challenges that were identified 
after IFRS 17 was published (includes a 
deferral of the effective date to annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2023) 

1 January 2023 

1 January 2023 

IAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial statements 

Amendments regarding the classification of 
liabilities 

Amendment to defer the effective date of the 
January 2020 amendments 

Amendment regarding the disclosure of 
accounting policies 

1 January 2023 

1 January 2023 

1 January 2023 

IAS 8 Accounting Policies, 
Changes in Accounting 
Estimates and Errors 

Amendments regarding the definition of 
accounting estimates 

1 January 2023 

IAS 12 Income Taxes Amendments regarding deferred tax on leases 
and decommissioning obligations 

1 January 2023 

https://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ifrs/ifrs1
http://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ifrs/ifrs2
http://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ifrs/ifrs2
https://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ifrs/ifrs-17
https://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ias/ias8
https://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ias/ias12
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED INTERNATIONAL FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (IFRSs) 
(continued) 

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued) 

IAS 16 Property, Plant and 
Equipment 

Amendments prohibiting a company from 
deducting from the cost of property, plant and 
equipment amounts received from selling items 
produced while the company is preparing the 
asset for its intended use 

1 January 2022 

IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent 
Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets 

Amendments regarding the costs to include when 
assessing whether a contract is onerous 

1 January 2022 

The directors are of the opinion that the adoption of these Standards (where applicable) will not have a 
material impact on the financial statements.  

https://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ias/ias16
https://www.iasplus.com/en/standards/ias/ias37
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

 

 
3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
3.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 

 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and comply with the Companies Act (Cap. 386). The 
financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, except for those assets and 
liabilities that are measured at fair value. 
 
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU 
requires the use of certain accounting estimates. It also requires directors to exercise their judgement in 
the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies.  Estimates and judgements are continually 
evaluated and based on historical experience and other factors including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. In the opinion of the directors, the accounting 
estimates and judgements made in the course of preparing these consolidated financial statements are 
not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which would warrant their description as critical in terms 
of the requirements of IAS 1. 
 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the year presented, unless 
otherwise stated. 
 
3.1.1 Going Concern 

 
We draw attention to the fact that the Company forms part of the Dizz Group (the ultimate holding 
parent being Dizz Group of Companies Limited) that operates in the retail and catering industry.   
 
Due to the COVID-19 outbreak, all the operations of the wider Dizz Group were negatively affected 
and had to deal with government-imposed restrictions on all operations, which measures were introduced 
in an effort to curb the pandemic. In light of the situation, the Government of Malta announced several 
support measures to mitigate the negative effects brought about by the pandemic. The Dizz Group 
applied for various schemes which were made available by Malta Enterprise.  
  
The Dizz Group shall continue to closely monitor the situation and constantly assess the impact of the 
COVID-19 pandemic on its operations. The Dizz Group acknowledges that there is still a high degree of 
uncertainty, however the directors will continue to take appropriate actions, as they have already done, 
and consider the Group resilient enough to be able to sustain the current conditions. 
  
Taking into consideration all of the above factors and circumstances, the directors are satisfied that, at 
the time of approving the financial statements, it is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing the financial statements. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.2 BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION 

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Group and its subsidiaries.  Control is achieved where the Group has the power to 
govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities. 

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases 
when the Group loses control of the subsidiary.  Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary 
acquired or disposed off during the period are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control until the date when the Group 
ceases to control the subsidiary. 

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are attributable to the owners of the 
Group and to the non-controlling interests.  Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to 
the owners of the Group and to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling 
interests having a deficit balance. 

When necessary, adjustments are made to the consolidated financial statements of subsidiaries to bring 
their accounting policies in line with the Group’s accounting policies. 

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between members of the Group are eliminated in full in the consolidation. 

3.2.1    Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing subsidiaries 

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control 
over the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.  The carrying amounts of the Group’s 
interests and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative interests in 
the subsidiaries.   

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the fair value 
of the consideration paid or received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to the owners of the 
Group. 

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, a gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and is calculated as the difference between (i) the 
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest 
and (ii) the previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the subsidiary 
and any non-controlling interests.  

All amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation to that subsidiary are 
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the relation assets or liabilities of the subsidiary 
(i.e. reclassified to consolidated statement of comprehensive income or transferred to another category 
of equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs).  The fair value of any investment retained in the 
former subsidiary at the date when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial recognition for 
subsequent accounting under IFRS 9, when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an investment in 
an associate or a joint venture. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.3 GOODWILL 

Goodwill arising in a business combination is recognised as an asset at the date that control is acquired 
(the acquisition date). Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the consideration transferred, 
the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable 
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed. 

If, after reassessment, the Group’s interest in the fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets 
exceeds the sum of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the 
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any), the 
excess is recognised immediately in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income as a bargain purchase gain. 

Goodwill is amortised and is reviewed for impairment at least annually. For the purpose of impairment 
testing, goodwill is allocated to each of the Group’s cash-generating units expected to benefit from the 
synergies of the combination.  

Cash-generating units to which goodwill has been allocated are tested for impairment annually, or more 
frequently when there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. If the recoverable amount of the 
cash-generating unit is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the 
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to the unit and then to the other assets of the unit pro-rata 
on the basis of the carrying amount of each asset in the unit.  

An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a subsequent period. 

On disposal of a subsidiary, the attributable amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the 
profit or loss on disposal. 

3.4 REVENUE RECOGNITION 

The Company recognises revenue from the following major sources as detailed here under: 

3.4.1 Dividend income 

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the shareholders’ right to receive payment has 
been established. 

3.4.2    Operation of Cafeterias 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received. Revenue from sale of food and 
beverages is recognised at the point of sale in the various coffee shops of the Group at a point in time. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.5  LEASES 

The Group has applied IFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and therefore the 
comparative information has not been restated and continues to be reported under IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. 

At inception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease.  A contract is, 
or contains a lease, if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period 
of time in exchange for consideration.  To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use 
of an identified asset, the Group uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16. 

3.5.1  The Group as a lessee 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates 
the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative stand-alone prices. 
However, for the leases of property, the Group has elected not to separate non-lease components and 
account for the lease and non-lease components as a single lease component. 

The Group recognises right of use assets and a lease liability at the lease commencement date.  The 
right of use assets are initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount on the lease liability 
adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs 
incurred and an estimate of costs to dismantle, remove or restore the underlying assets or the site on 
which it is located, less any lease incentives received. 

The right of use assets are subsequently amortised using the straight-line method from the commencement 
date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the underlying assets to the 
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right of use assets reflects that the Group will 
exercise a purchase option.  In that case the right of use assets will be depreciated over the useful life 
of the underlying assets, which is determined on the same basis as those of property, plant and 
equipment.  In addition, the right of use assets is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and 
adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
the commencement date. These are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate 
cannot be readily determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.  Generally, the Group uses its 
incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

The Group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external 
financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset 
leased. 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

• fixed payment, including in-substance fixed payments;

• variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or
rate as at the commencement date;

• amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.5  LEASES (continued) 

3.5.1   The Group as a lessee (continued) 

• the exercise price under a purchase option that the Group is reasonably certain to exercise, lease
payments in an optional renewal period if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise an extension
option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the Group is reasonably certain not to
terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest rate.  It is remeasured when 
there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate. If there is a change 
in the Group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, the 
Group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option or 
if there is a revised in-substance fixed lease payment. 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right of use assets, or is recorded in consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income if the carrying amount of the right of use assets has been reduced to zero. 

The Group presents right of use assets that do not meet the definition of investment property in ‘property, 
plant and equipment’ and lease liabilities in ‘loans and borrowings’ in the consolidated balance sheet. 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

The Group has elected not to recognise right of use assets and lease liabilities for leases of low-value 
assets and short-term leases.  The Group recognises the lease payments associated with these leases as 
an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

3.5.2   The Group as a lessor 

At inception or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the Group allocates the 
consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of their relative stand-alone prices. 

When the Group acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease 
or an operating lease. 

To classify each lease, the Group makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers 
substantially all of the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset.  If this is the 
case, then the lease is a finance lease; if not, then it is an operating lease.  As part of this assessment, 
the Group considers certain indicators such as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic 
life of the asset. 

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, it accounts for its interests in the head lease and the sub-lease 
separately.  It assesses the lease classification of a sub-lease with reference to the right of use assets 
arising from the head lease, not with reference to the underlying asset.  If a head lease is a short-term 
lease to which the Group applies the exemption described above, then it classifies the sub-lease as an 
operating lease. 

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, then the Group applies IFRS 15 to allocate 
the consideration in the contract. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.5  LEASES (continued) 

3.5.2   The Group as a lessor (continued) 

The Group applies the derecognition and impairment requirements in IFRS 9 to the net investment in the 
lease.  The Group further regularly reviews estimated unguaranteed residual values used in calculating 
the gross investment in the lease. 

The Group recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis 
over the lease terms as part of ‘other revenue’. 

Generally, the accounting policies applicable to the Group as a lessor in the comparative period were 
not different from IFRS 16 except for the classification of the sub-lease entered during current reporting 
period that resulted in a finance lease classification. 

3.6  BORROWING COSTS 

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or 
sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their 
intended use or sale. To the extent that variable rate borrowings are used to finance a qualifying asset 
and are hedged in an effective cash flow hedge of interest rate risk, the effective portion of the 
derivative is recognised in other comprehensive income and reclassified to profit or loss when the 
qualifying asset impacts profit or loss. To the extent that fixed rate borrowings are used to finance a 
qualifying asset and are hedged in an effective fair value hedge of interest rate risk, the capitalised 
borrowing costs reflect the hedged interest rate. 

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure 
on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation. All other borrowing 
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred. 

3.7 SHORT‑TERM AND OTHER LONG‑TERM EMPLOYEE BENEFITS 

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees in respect of wages and salaries, annual 
leave and sick leave in the period the related service is rendered at the undiscounted amount of the 
benefits expected to be paid in exchange for that service. 

Liabilities recognised in respect of short‑term employee benefits are measured at the undiscounted 
amount of the benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the related service. 

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long‑term employee benefits are measured at the present value 
of the estimated future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in respect of services provided 
by employees up to the reporting date. 

3.8 TAXATION 

The income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred tax. 
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3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.8 TAXATION (continued) 

3.8.1  Current Tax 

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the period. Taxable profit differs from net 
profit as reported in profit or loss because it excludes items of income or expense that are taxable or 
deductible in other years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or deductible. The 
Company’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively 
enacted by the end of the reporting period. 

A provision is recognised for those matters for which the tax determination is uncertain but it is considered 
probable that there will be a future outflow of funds to a tax authority. The provisions are measured at 
the best estimate of the amount expected to become payable. The assessment is based on the judgement 
of tax professionals within the Company supported by previous experience in respect of such activities 
and in certain cases based on specialist independent tax advice. 

3.8.2  Deferred Tax 

Deferred tax is the tax expected to be payable or recoverable on differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the 
computation of taxable profit, and is accounted for using the liability method. Deferred tax liabilities 
are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary 
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference 
arises from the initial recognition of goodwill or from the initial recognition (other than in a business 
combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the 
accounting profit. In addition, a deferred tax liability is not recognised if the temporary difference arises 
from the initial recognition of goodwill. 

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in 
subsidiaries and associates, and interests in joint ventures, except where the Company is able to control 
the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse 
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences associated 
with such investments and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be 
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary differences and they are 
expected to reverse in the foreseeable future. 

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part 
of the asset to be recovered. Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply in 
the period when the liability is settled or the asset is realised based on tax laws and rates that have 
been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. The measurement of deferred tax liabilities 
and assets reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company 
expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and 
liabilities. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation 
authority and the Company intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

3.8.3 Current and deferred tax for the period 

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when they relate to items that are 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the current and deferred 
tax are also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where current 
tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included 
in the accounting for the business combination. 
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3.9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

Land and buildings held for use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for administrative 
purposes, are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at their revalued amounts, being 
the fair value at the date of revaluation, less any subsequent accumulated depreciation and subsequent 
accumulated impairment losses. Revaluations are performed with sufficient regularity such that the 
carrying amounts do not differ materially from those that would be determined using fair values at the 
end of the reporting period. 

Any revaluation increase arising on the revaluation of such land and buildings is recognised in other 
comprehensive income, except to the extent that it reverses a revaluation decrease for the same asset 
previously recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, in which case the increase 
is credited to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income to the extent of the decrease 
previously expensed. A decrease in the carrying amount arising on the revaluation of such land and 
buildings is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income to the extent that it 
exceeds the balance, if any, held in the properties revaluation reserve relating to a previous revaluation 
of that asset.  

Depreciation on revalued buildings is recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 
On the subsequent sale or retirement of a revalued property, the attributable revaluation surplus 
remaining in the properties’ revaluation reserve is transferred directly to retained earnings. No transfer 
is made from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings except when an asset is derecognised. 

Properties in the course of construction for production, supply or administrative purposes, or for purposes 
not yet determined, are carried at cost, less any recognised impairment losses. Cost includes professional 
fees and, for qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting 
policy. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other property assets, commences when the 
assets are ready for their intended use. 

Other property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. 

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost or valuation of assets (other than freehold land and 
properties under construction) less their residual values over their useful lives, using the straight-line 
method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at each year 
end with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. 

The annual rates used, which are consistent with those applied in previous years are: 

% 

Improvements to premises 1-10 
Air-conditioning 17 
Furniture and fittings 10 
Motor vehicles 20 
Catering 10 
Computer hardware and software 25 
Electrical plumbing 7 

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed and adjusted if appropriate, at each end of 
the reporting period.  An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount 
if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount. 

The gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property, plant and equipment is 
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is 
recognised in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. 



D FOODS FINANCE P.L.C. – CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS 

31 

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 31 December 2021 

3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.10  INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

3.10.1  Intangible assets acquired separately 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.  Amortisation is recognised on a straight line basis over 
their estimated useful lives.  The estimated useful life and amortisation method are reviewed at the end 
of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate being accounted for on a prospective 
basis.  Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives that are acquired separately are carried at cost less 
accumulated impairment losses. 

3.10.2  Derecognition of intangible assets 

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits are expected from 
use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition of an intangible asset, measured as the 
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in 
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income when the asset is derecognised. 

3.11    IMPAIRMENT OF TANGIBLE AND INTANGIBLE ASSETS EXCLUDING GOODWILL 

At each reporting date, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such 
indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss (if any). Where the asset does not generate cash flows that are independent from other 
assets, the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash generating unit to which the asset 
belongs. When a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are 

also allocated to individual cash‑generating units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group 
of cash generating units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis can be identified. 

Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life are tested for impairment at least annually and whenever 
there is an indication that the asset may be impaired. Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to 
their present value using a pre tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value 
of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates of future cash flows have not been 
adjusted. If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash generating unit) is estimated to be less than its 
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable 
amount. An impairment loss is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, unless the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is 
treated as a revaluation decrease. 

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or cash generating 
unit) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss 
been recognised for the asset (or cash generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss 
is recognised immediately in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, unless the relevant 
asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a 
revaluation increase. 
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3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 

3.12    INVENTORIES 
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value.  Costs of inventories are determined 
on average cost basis.  Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for inventories less all 
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale. 

3.13    FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Group’s consolidated Balance Sheet when 
the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. Financial assets and financial 
liabilities are initially measured at fair value.  

Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial 
liabilities (other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss) are 
added to or deducted from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, 
on initial recognition.  

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial liabilities at fair 
value through profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss. 

3.14    FINANCIAL ASSETS 

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date 
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of 
assets within the time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace. All recognised 
financial assets are measured subsequently in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, 
depending on the classification of the financial assets.  

Classification of financial assets 

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at amortised cost: 

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order
to collect contractual cash flows; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Debt instruments that meet the following conditions are measured subsequently at fair value through 
other comprehensive income (FVTOCI): 

• the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial assets; and

• the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

By default, all other financial assets are measured subsequently at fair value through profit or loss 
(FVTPL). Despite the foregoing, the Company may make the following irrevocable election/designation 
at initial recognition of a financial asset: 
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3.14    FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 

• the Group may irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if certain criteria are met; and

• the Group may irrevocably designate a debt investment that meets the amortised cost or FVTOCI
criteria as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.

Write off policy 

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe 
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed 
under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings, or in the case of trade receivables, when 
the amounts are over two years past due, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may still 
be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal 
advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The Group recognises a loss allowance for expected credit losses on investments in debt instruments that 
are measured at amortised cost or at FVTOCI, lease receivables, trade receivables and contract assets, 
as well as on financial guarantee contracts. The amount of expected credit losses is updated at each 
reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition of the respective financial 
instrument. The Company always recognises lifetime Expected Credit Losses (ECL) for trade receivables, 
contract assets and lease receivables.  

The expected credit losses on these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based on the 
Company’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, general 
economic conditions and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast direction of conditions 
at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate. 

For all other financial instruments, the Group recognises lifetime ECL when there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. However, if the credit risk on the financial instrument has 
not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Group measures the loss allowance for that 
financial instrument at an amount equal to 12 month ECL. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that will result from all possible default events over 
the expected life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12 month ECL represents the portion of lifetime 
ECL that is expected to result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within 12 
months after the reporting date. 

Derecognition of financial assets 

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership of the asset to another entity. If the Group neither transfers nor retains substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Group recognises its 
retained interest in the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Group 
retains substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Group 
continues to recognise the financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds 
received. 
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3 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) 
 

3.14    FINANCIAL ASSETS (continued) 
 

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s 
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. 
In addition, on derecognition of an investment in a debt instrument classified as at FVTOCI, the cumulative 
gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is reclassified to profit or loss. 
In contrast, on derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial 
recognition to measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments 
revaluation reserve is not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.  
 

3.15    FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
 

Initial recognition and measurement 
 

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit 
or loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an 
effective hedge, as appropriate.  
 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and 
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs. The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and 
other payables, loans and borrowings including bank overdrafts, and derivative financial instruments. 
 

Subsequent measurement 
 

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below: 
 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss include financial liabilities held for trading and 
financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value through profit or loss. 
 

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing 
in the near term. This category also includes derivative financial instruments entered into by the Group 
that are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as defined by IFRS 9. Separated 
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for trading unless they are designated as effective 
hedging instruments. 
 

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Financial 
liabilities designated upon initial recognition at fair value through profit or loss are designated at the 
initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are satisfied. The Group has not designated 
any financial liability as at fair value through profit or loss. 
 

Loans and borrowings 
 

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the Effective Interest Rate (EIR) method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when 
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.   

 

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or 
costs that are an integral part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement 
of profit or loss. This category generally applies to interest-bearing loans and borrowings. For more 
information, refer to Note 20.  

 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period. 
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3.15    FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (continued) 

Derecognition 

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or 
expires. When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially 
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or 
modification is treated as the derecognition of the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss. 

3.16    PROVISIONS 

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that the Group will be required to settle that obligation and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. 

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the 
present obligation at the reporting date, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, 
its carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows (when the effect of the time value of money 
is material). 

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered 
from a third party, a receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will 
be received and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably. 

3.17    SHARE CAPITAL 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.  Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new 
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Dividends are recognised as 
liability in the period in which they are declared. 

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in note 3, the directors of the 
Group are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets 
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions 
are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to be relevant.   

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only the 
period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future 
periods. 

4.1 CRITICAL JUDGEMENTS IN APPLYING ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

Information about judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant 
effects on the amounts recognised in the financial statements is included in the following notes: 

• Estimation of current tax payable and current tax expense – note 3.8 and 11;

• Estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment – note 3.9 and 13;

• Recognition of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) – note 3.8 and 11;

• Leases: whether an arrangement contains a lease – note 3.5 and 14;

• Leases classification – note 3.5 and 14.

• Goodwill – note 3.3 and 16.
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5 LOSS BEFORE TAX 
 Group   Company 

2021 2020 2021 2020 
(7 months) (7 months) 

€ € € € 

(Loss)/Profit before tax is stated 
after charging: 
Auditors’ remuneration 17,630 16,579 6,180 1,500 
Staff costs (note 10) 1,010,564 646,961 - - 
Depreciation of property, plant 
and equipment 266,957 155,747 - - 
Amortisation of right of use 
assets 217,791 107,955 - - 
Amortisation of intangible assets 8,800 5,133 - - 

_________ _________ _________ _________ 

6 REVENUE 
 Group   Company 

   2021    2020 2021 2020 
(7 months)     (7 months) 

 €  €     €     € 

Sale of food and beverages 4,063,090 2,057,894 - - 
_________ _________ _________ _________ 

7 OTHER INCOME  
  Group  Company 

   2021    2020 2021 2020 
(7 months)     (7 months) 

 €  €     €     € 

Management fee 7,065 - - 49,233 
Rental income  57,196 32,100 - - 
Marketing contribution  90,921 55,220 - - 
COVID-19 wage supplement 233,116 120,739 - - 
COVID-19 rent discount  21,629 9,744 - - 
Other general income 99,173 - - - 
Gain on disposal of asset 24,300 - - - 

_________ _________ _________ ________ 

533,400 217,803 - 49,233 
_________ _________ _________ ________ 

8 MARKETING EXPENSES 

 Group   Company 
   2021    2020 2021 2020 

(7 months)     (7 months) 
 €  €     €     € 

Advertising and marketing 
expenses 158,658 39,024 - - 

_________ _________ _________ _________ 
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9 FINANCE COSTS 
 Group  Company 

   2021    2020 2021 2020 
(7 months)     (7 months) 

 €  €     €     € 

Interest payable on notes 6,440 37,233 - 37,233 
Amortisation of bond expenses 32,346 5,550 6,440 5,550 
Bank interest on overdraft - 255 - - 
Loan interest 90,000 23,624 - - 
Bond interest  62,947 14,778 90,000 - 
Finance cost interest on leases 29,556 15,637 - - 
Other interest charges - - - - 
Listing fees  - - 2,000 - 

   ________  ________ ________ ________ 

221,289  110,723 98,440 42,783 
 ________  ________ ________ ________ 

10 STAFF COSTS 
 Group  Company 

   2021    2020 2021 2020 
(7 months)     (7 months) 

 €  €     €     € 

Wages and salaries 957,353 538,962 - - 
Social security costs 53,211 107,999 - - 

 ________  ________  ________  ________ 

1,010,564 646,961 - - 
 ________  ________  ________  ________ 

The average number of employees employed by the Group/Company were as follows: 

 Group  Company 
   2021    2020 2021 2020 

(7 months)     (7 months) 
 €  €     €     € 

Administration 10 5 - - 
Operational  56 53 - - 

  ________  ________  ________  ________ 

66 56 - - 
________ ________  ________  ________ 
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11 INCOME TAX 
 Group  Company 

   2021    2020 2021 2020 
(7 months) (7 months) 

 €  €     € € 
Current tax: 
In respect of current period - - - - 

________ ________ ________ ________ 

Deferred tax: 
In respect of current period (24,076) (93,158) - - 

 ________ ________ ________ ________ 

Total income tax recognised in 
the current period (24,076) (93,158) - - 

________   _______ ________ ________ 

The income tax for the period can be reconciled to the accounting (loss)/profit as follows: 

 Group  Company 
   2021    2020 2021 2020 

(7 months) (7 months) 
 €  €     € € 

(Loss)/Profit before tax (242,859) (657,105) (154,910) 1,092 
________ ________ ________ ________ 

Theoretical tax at 35% (85,001) (229,987) (54,219) 382 

Disallowable expenses 66,216  71,102 51,965   13,031 
Amortisation of note 2,254 1,133 2,254 1,943 
Other movements 28,531 (142,209) - - 
Group loss relief - 206,802 - (15,356) 
Amortisation of goodwill 6,509 - - - 
Depreciation on improvements to 
premises 1,187 - - - 
Expected credit losses 4,380 - - - 

  ________  ________ ________ ________ 

24,074 (93,158) - - 
    _______  ________ ________ ________ 

11.1  Deferred tax recognised in the consolidated statement of profit & loss and other 
comprehensive income 

 Group  Company 
   2021    2020 2021 2020 

 €  €     €     € 

Deferred tax: 
Tax losses 24,076 (93,158) - - 

 ________ ________   ________ ________ 
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11 INCOME TAX (continued) 

11.2 Current tax liabilities 

 Group  Company 
   2021    2020 2021 2020 

 €  €     €     € 

Income tax payable 94,362 99,974 - - 
   ________ ________  ________ ________ 

11.3 Deferred tax balances 

 Group  Company 
   2021    2020 2021 2020 

 €  €     €     € 

Deferred tax assets 303,127 327,203 - - 
   ________ ________  ________ ________ 

The Group’s deferred tax can be analysed as follows: 

Recognised 
Recognised in in other 

Opening comprehensive comprehensive Closing 
Balance/
aquired 

income income Other balance 

€ € € € € 
2021 

Tax losses 327,203 (24,607) - - 303,127 
   ________ ________  ________ ________ ________ 

327,203 (24,607) - - 303,127 
   ________ ________  ________ ________ ________ 

2020 

Tax losses 234,045 93,158 - - 327,203 
   ________ ________  ________ ________ ________ 

234,045 93,158 - - 327,203 
   ________ ________  ________ ________ ________ 
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12 LOSS/(PROFIT) PER SHARE 
 

Loss per share is calculated by dividing the results attributable to owners of the Company by the  
weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period. 
 
                      Group                 Company 
    2021    2020 2021 2020 
  (7 months)  (7 months) 
        €        €     € € 
     
(Loss)/Profit for the period (242,859) (657,105) (154,910) 1,092  
  __________  __________  __________  __________ 
     
Weighted number of ordinary 
shares 

 
3,279,286 

 
3,279,286 

 
3,279,286 

 
3,279,286 

  __________  __________  __________  __________ 
     
Loss per share (0.07) (0.20) (0.04) -     
     ________     ________ ________  ________  
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – GROUP 

Improvements 
to premises 

Air- 
conditioning 

Furniture & 
fittings 

Motor 
vehicles 

Computer 
hardware & 

software 
Electrical 
plumbing Catering Total 

€ € € € € € € € 

Cost/Revalued amount 

At 21 May 2020 - - - - - - - - 
Acquired by the Group 92,344 30,773 1,471,205 105,506 172,891 20,204 155,965 2,048,888 
Additions 40,000 3,689 34,818 - 103,021 - 34,405 215,933 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

At 31 December 2020 132,344 34,462 1,506,023 105,506 275,912 20,204 190,370 2,264,821 
__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Depreciation 

At 21 May 2020 - - - - - - - - 

Taken over 7,519 7,577 401,772 47,751 85,255 1,910 39,277 591,061 

Charge for the period 5,974 2,965 84,153 10,787 32,005 786 19,077 155,747 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

At 31 December 2020 13,493 10,542 485,925 58,538 117,260 2,696 58,354 746,808 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Carrying amounts 

At 31 December 2020 118,851 23,920 1,020,098 46,968 158,652 17,508 132,106 1,518,013 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 
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13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT – GROUP 

Improvements 
to premises 

Air- 
conditioning 

Furniture & 
fittings 

Motor 
vehicles 

Computer 
hardware & 

software 
Electrical 
plumbing Catering Total 

€ € € € € € € € 

Cost/Revalued amount 

At 1 January 2021 132,344 34,462 1,506,023 105,506 275,912 20,204 190,370 2,264,821 
Acquired by the Group - - - - - - - - 
Additions - 2,207 59,627 - 31,906 - 32,563 126,303 
Disposals - - - - (97,200) - - (97,200) 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

At 31 December 2021 132,344 36,669 1,565,650 105,506 210,618 20,204 222,933 2,391,124 
__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Depreciation 

At 1 January 2021 13,493 10,542 485,925 58,538 117,260 2,696 58,354 746,808 

Charge for the period 3,391 6,113 156,787 19,701 40,588 1,348 39,029 266,957 

Release on disposal - - - - (24,300) - - (24,300) 
__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

At 31 December 2021 16,884 16,655 642,712 78,239 133,548 4,044 97,383 989,465 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

Carrying amounts 

At 31 December 2021 115,460 20,014 922,938 27,267 77,070 16,160 125,550 1,304,459 

__________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ __________ 

4
2
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14 RIGHT OF USE ASSETS 

Group  Buildings 

€ 

Cost 

At 21 May 2020 - 

Assets taken over 1,047,742 

Additions 23,449 

__________ 

At 31 December 2020 1,071,191 

__________ 

At 1 January 2021 1,071,191 

Assets taken over  - 

Additions 573,249 

__________ 

At 31 December 2021 1,644,440 

__________ 

Amortisation 

At 21 May 2020 - 

Taken over  274,909 

For the period 107,955 

__________ 

At 31 December 2020 382,864 

__________ 

At 1 January 2021 382,864 

Taken over  - 

For the period 217,791 

__________ 

At 31 December 2021 600,655 

__________ 

Carrying amounts 

At 31 December 2021 1,043,785 

__________ 

At 31 December 2020 688,327 

__________ 
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14 RIGHT OF USE ASSETS (continued) 
 

14.1 Amounts recognised in consolidated statement of profit and loss and other comprehensive 
income 

 
                      Group                 Company 
    2021    2020 2021 2020 
        €        €     €     € 
     
Amortisation expense on right of 
use assets 

 
217,790 

 
107,955 

 
- 

 
- 

Interest expense on finance 
lease 

 
62,947 

 
15,637 

 
- 

 
- 

 _________ _________ _________ _________ 
     
 

 The total cash outflow for leases amounts to €194,510 (2020: €72,034).  
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15 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

Group     € 

Cost 
At 21 May 2020 - 
Acquired on merger 88,000 

_________ 

At 31 December 2020 88,000 
_________ 

At 1 January 2021 88,000 
Acquired on merger - 

_________ 

At 31 December 2021 88,000 
_________ 

Amortisation 
At 21 May 2020 - 
Acquired on merger 21,267 
For the period 5,133 

_________ 

At 31 December 2020 26,400 
_________ 

At 1 January 2021 26,400 
Acquired on merger - 
For the period 8,800 

_________ 

At 31 December 2021 35,200 
_________ 

Carrying amount 
At 31 December 2021 52,800 

_________ 

At 31 December 2020 61,600 
_________ 
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16 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 
 
 The investment in group undertakings is as follows: 
 

 Company 

 € 

Cost  
At 21 May 2020 - 

Additions 6,184,580 

Disposal of subsidiary (42,819) 

 __________ 

  

At 31 December 2020 6,141,761 

 __________ 

  

At 1 January 2021 6,141,761 

Additions - 

Impairment (1,200) 

 __________ 
  

At 31 December 2021 6,140,561 

 __________ 
 
 Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting period are as follows: 
 

 

Name of  
subsidiary 

Principal  
activity 

Registered 
office 

Proportion of ownership 
interest and voting  

power held 

    
DK Pascucci Limited Sale of food and 

beverage 
Dizz Building, Carob Street, 

Santa Venera 
 

100% 
    
D Kitchen Lab Limited Sale of food and 

beverage 
Dizz Building, Carob Street, 

Santa Venera 
 

100% 
    
DCaffe Holdings Ltd Holding Company  Dizz Building, Carob Street, 

Santa Venera 
 

100% 

 
D Caffe Holdings Limited has another subsidiary as follows: 

 
 

Name of  
subsidiary 

 
Principal  
activity 

 
Registered 

office 

Proportion of 
ownership interest and 

voting  
power held 

    
DCaffe Ltd  Sale of food and 

beverage 
Dizz Building, Carob Street, 

Santa Venera 
 

100% 
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16 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued) 

Goodwill on investment in subsidiaries 
Group 

€ 
Cost 
At 21 May 2020 - 
Additions  6,446,262 

__________ 

At 31 December 2020 6,446,262 
__________ 

At 1 January 2021 6,446,262 
Additions  - 

__________ 

At 31 December 2021 6,446,262 
__________ 

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group commenced a corporate restructuring exercise 
aimed at streamlining operations of the subsidiaries into four key pillars: retail, food and beverage, 
property and financing. In a bid to consolidate its food and beverage side of business, the Dizz Group 
of Companies Limited acquired DK Pascucci Limited, DCaffe Holding Ltd, D Kitchen Lab Limited and 
Xilema Limited through a non-cash consideration. Upon acquisition of these companies, a goodwill of 
€6,446,262 was created. 

17 INVENTORIES 
 Group  Company 

   2021    2020 2021 2020 
 €  €     €     € 

Goods held for resale 436,522 381,975 - - 
________ ________ ________ ________ 

18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 
 Group  Company 

   2021    2020 2021 2020 
 €  €     €     € 

Trade receivables 99,875 45,607 - 7,110 
Other receivables 256,368 246,810 18,658 - 
Amounts due from related 
companies (note) 3,371,913 - 2,994,893 151,852 

_________ _________ _________ _________ 

3,728,156 292,417 3,013,551 158,962 
_________ _________ _________ _________ 

Note – 

Amounts due from related companies are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand. Amounts 
are net of expected credit losses as outlined in Note 3.14. Expected credit losses for the year amount 
to € 30,963.   
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19  EQUITY 

19.1 Share capital 
 Company 

2021 2020 
€ € 

Authorised 
10,000,000 ordinary shares of €1 each 10,000,000 10,000,000 

__________ __________ 
Called-up, issued and fully paid 
3,279,286 ordinary shares of €1 each 3,279,286 3,279,286 

__________ __________ 

19.2  Retained earnings 

The profit and loss account represents (loss)/profit for the period. 

Group     € 

At 21 May 2020 - 
Loss for the period attributable to owners (563,947) 

_________ 

At 31 December 2020 (563,947) 
_________ 

At 1 January 2021 (563,947) 
Loss for the period attributable to owners (266,935) 

_________ 

At 31 December 2021 (830,882) 
_________ 

Company € 

At 21 May 2020 - 

Profit for the period 1,092 

_________ 

At 31 December 2020 1,092 

_________ 

At 1 January 2021 1,092 

Profit for the period (154,910) 

_________ 

At 31 December 2021 (153,818) 

_________ 
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20 BORROWINGS 

 Group  Company 
2021 2020 2021 2020 

€ € € € 

Amounts falling due within one 
year: 
Bank overdraft (i) 85,196 46,986 - - 
Bank loans (ii) 80,377 86,677 - - 

________ ________ ________ ________ 

165,573 133,663 - - 
________ ________ ________ ________ 

Amounts falling after more than 
five years: 
Bank loans (ii) 285,541 332,082 - - 
5.35% Notes 2028 (iii) 2,948,479 2,950,052 2,948,479 2,950,052 

_________ _________ _________ _________ 

Total borrowings due after five 
years 3,234,020 3,282,134 2,948,479 2,950,052 

_________ _________ _________ _________ 

Total borrowings 3,399,593 3,415,797 2,948,479 2,950,052  
_________ _________ _________ _________ 

20.2 Summary of borrowing arrangements 

(i) The Group enjoys bank overdraft facilities with its bankers.  These facilities are secured by 
general hypothecs over the Group’s assets, by a special hypothec over properties of the Group, 
by pledges taken over various insurance policies and by personal guarantees of the directors 
and shareholders.  The annual interest rate on bank overdrafts and bank balances is 4.9%. 

(ii) The bank loan represents atwo loans with BOV Bank Malta PLC. The loan was obtained for 
refurbishment purposes. Loan 1 has to be repaid within a period of five years through monthly 
repayments of Eur 4,256 including interest. Loan 2 has to be repaid within a period of three 
years through monthly payments of Eur 4,500 including interest. The interest rate is 5%. 

(iii) On the 21 of July 2020 the company issued a base prospectus for the issue of Euro 10,000,000 
3% Secured convertible notes having a nominal value of Euro 100,000 each. On the 3 of August 
2020, 30 Notes for the value of Eur 3,000,000 have been bought as per final terms dated 21 
July 2020. The maturity date of the convertible notes is 2 August 2030 unless converted to equity 
beforehand. 
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21 LEASE LIABILITY 

 Group  Company 
   2021    2020 2021 2020 

 €  €     €     € 

Maturity analysis: 
One year 186,890  149,107 - - 
Between two and five years 423,204  589,337 - - 
After five years 570,038 - - - 

     _________   _________   _________   _________ 

1,180,132  738,444 - - 
     _________    _________ _________ _________ 

22 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

 Group  Company 
   2021    2020 2021 2020 

 €  €     €     € 

Amounts falling due within one 
year: 
Trade payables  1,142,125 1,365,750 12,154 28,615 
Accruals  37,330 399,957 12,680 39,234 
Other payables (ii) 769,146 456,664 - - 
Amounts due to related 
companies (i) 3,998,737 343,625 3,056,325 53,642 

_________ _________ _________ _________ 

5,947,338 2,565,996 3,081,159 121,491 
_________ _________ _________ _________ 

Amounts falling due more than 
one year: 
Other payables (ii) 267,428 259,932 - - 

_________ _________ _________ _________ 

Total trade and other payables 6,214,766 2,825,928 3,081,159 121,491 
_________ _________ _________ _________ 

Notes – 

i) Amounts due to related companies are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

ii) Other payables include privilged creditors amounting to  €955,577.
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23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents consists of balances with banks.  Cash and cash equivalents included in the 
statement of cash flows comprise the following amounts: 

 Group  Company 
2021 2020 2021 2020 

€ € € € 

Cash at bank and in hand 22,145 79,685 995 - 
Bank balance overdrawn (85,196) (46,986) - 51,198 

    ________     ________ ________ ________ 

(63,051) 32,699 995 51,198 
   ________    ________ ________ ________ 

Note – 

The cash and cash equivalents are disclosed net of unrealised differences on exchange. 

24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

The Company’s activities potentially expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including fair 
value interest rate risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk); credit risk; and liquidity risk. The 
Company’s overall risk management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to 
minimize potential adverse effects on the Company’s financial performance. The Board provides 
principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering risks referred to above and 
specific areas such as investment of excess liquidity. The Company did not make use of derivative 
financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures during the current and preceding financial period. 

24.1  Market risk 

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk 

The Company is exposed to risks associated with the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of 
the market interest rates on its financing position and cash flows. 

As at the reporting date, the Company has fixed interest bearing liabilities. Fixed interest-bearing 
liabilities consist of 3% note issued to a private investor and bank loans at 5%. 

Based on the above, management considers the potential impact on profit or loss of a defined interest 
rate shift that is reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period to be immaterial. 

24.2 Credit risk 

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents as well as credit exposures to customers, including 
outstanding receivables and committed transactions (notes 18 and 23).  
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24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

24.2 Credit risk (continued) 

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in respect of the financial 
assets mentioned above is equivalent to their carrying amount. The Company does not hold any 
collateral as security in this respect. The majority of the Company’s income streams are derived from 
related companies and some of the directors have control over the related company’s operations. 

The maximum credit risk exposure to risk at the end of the reporting period in respect of these financial 
assets was as follows – 

 Group  Company 
   2021    2020 2021 2020 

 €  €     €     € 

Amounts due from related 
companies 3,371,913 - 2,994,893 151,852 
Other receivables 356,244 292,417 18,658  7,110 

_________ _________ _________ _________ 

3,728,157 292,417 3,013,551 158,962 
_________ _________ _________ _________ 

The Company banks only with financial institutions with high quality standing or rating. 

The Company manages credit limits and exposures actively in a practicable manner such that there 
are no material past due amounts receivable from customers as at the end of the reporting period. 

24.3 Liquidity risk 

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in relation to meeting future obligations associated with its 
financial liabilities, which comprise principally interest-bearing borrowings and trade and other 
payables (notes 20, 21 and 22).  Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient 
cash to ensure the availability of an adequate amount of funding to meet the Company’s obligations 
and ensuring that alternative funding is available when the bonds are due for repayment. 

The Group’s liquidity risk is managed actively by the Group in view of the fact that the Group’s 
financial assets and liabilities mainly consist of balances with company undertakings.   

The following table analyses the Group’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity groupings based 
on the remaining period at the reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed 
in the tables below are the undiscounted contractual cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal 
their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.  
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24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

Carrying 
amounts 

Contractual 
cash flows 

One 
year 

Between 
2 years and 

5 years 
After 
5 years 

€ € € € € 

Group 

At 31 December 2021 

Trade and other payables 1,260,449 1,260,449 1,260,449 226,368 41,060 

Related company balances 3,998,737 3,998,737 3,998,737 - - 

Notes 2,948,479 3,900,000 90,000 360,000 3,450,000 

_________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 

8,207,665 9,159,186 5,349,186 586,368 3,491,060 

_________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 

At 31 December 2020 

Trade and other payables 1,822,414 1,822,414 1,822,414 259,932 259,932 

Related company balances 343,625 343,625 343,625 - - 

Notes 2,950,052 3,900,000 90,000 360,000 3,450,000 

_________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 

5,116,091 6,066,039 2,256,039 619,932 3,709,932 

_________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 

Company 

At 31 December 2021 

Trade and other payables 24,834 24,834 24,834 - - 

Related company balances 3,056,325 3,056,325 3,056,325 - - 

Notes 2,948,479 3,900,000 90,000 360,000 3,450,000 

_________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 

6,029,638 6,981,159 3,171,159 360,000 3,450,000 

_________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 

At 31 December 2020 

Trade and other payables 28,615 28,615 28,615 - - 

Related company balances 53,642 53,642 53,642 - - 

Notes 2,950,052 3,900,000 90,000 360,000 3,450,000 

_________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 

3,032,309 3,982,257 172,257 360,000 3,450,000 

_________ _________ _________ _________ _________ 
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24 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

24.4 Capital risk management 

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are: 

• to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide returns for
shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders;

• to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital; and

• to comply with requirements of the Company Admission Document issued in relation to the 3 %
Bond.

The Board's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market 
confidence to sustain future development of business. The board of directors monitor the return on 
capital, which the Group defines as the profit for the period divided by total equity. The board of 
directors also monitors the level of dividends that may be available to ordinary shareholders. 

24.4.1    Gearing ratio 

The Company’s gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows: 

 Group  Company 
   2021    2020 2021 2020 

 €  €     €     € 

Debt (i) 3,415,797 3,415,797 2,948,479 2,950,052 
Cash and bank balances (63,051) (79,685) 995 (51,198) 

_________ _________ _________ _________ 

Net debt 3,352,746 3,336,112 2,949,474 2,898,854 
_________ _________ _________ _________ 

Equity (ii) 2,448,405 2,715,339 3,125,468 3,280,378 
_________ _________ _________ _________ 

Net debt to equity ratio 137% 52% 94% 47% 
_________ _________ _________ _________ 

Notes:  

(i) Debt is defined as long-and short-term borrowings. 

(ii) Equity includes all capital and reserves of the Group that are managed as capital. 
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25 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
Balances and transactions between the Company and its subsidiaries, which are related parties of the 
Group, have been eliminated in the consolidation and are not disclosed in this note.   
 

 25.1  Amounts due (to)/from related parties 
 

                      Group                 Company 
    2021    2020 2021 2020 
        €        €     €     € 
     
Amounts due from related 
companies  

 
3,371,913 

 
- 

 
2,994,893 

 
151,852 

 _________ _________ _________ _________ 
     
Amounts due to related 
companies  

 
(3,998,737) 

 
 (343,625)     

 
(3,056,325) 

 
(53,642)     

 _________ _________ _________ _________ 
 
 
26 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD 

 
Towards the end of February 2022, the armed conflict between the Russian Federation and Ukraine 
set in motion a chain of diplomatic efforts and other major geopolitical events which led a number of 
western nations, including the EU institution and the United States government, to impose a number of 
sanctions on Russia and Belarus. These current sanctions in place include several restrictive measures 
of a direct financial nature that are having a significant direct impact on the broad economy of the 
invading nations, as well as resulting in a downgrading of their sovereign and private debt by 
international credit rating agencies. 
 
The consequences of these restrictive measures are however also expected to have a significant impact 
on the economies of the countries implementing such trade restrictions, with a spill-over on the world 
economy, as uncertainty and market volatility remain high across all industries with increasing tensions 
and rhetoric on both sides. The cost of doing business is undoubtedly set to rise further, following the 
initial Covid shocks on the global economy seen in the last couple of years, as the ongoing conflict in 
Ukraine and Covid-related measures continue to rock global supply chains. Both the International 
Monetary Fund and the World Bank have indicated that the resulting impact of the conflict to global 
growth and recovery from Covid effects will be significant.  
 
As the price of oil and gas shift upwards due to the war, transport and other procurement costs 
required for business will also increase. Due to the nature and decisiveness of these restrictive 
measures, the economic impact globally is expected to be long-lasting, even in the eventuality that 
the conflict ceases in the immediate future. The dynamics of international trade between the EU, the 
USA and Asia will change forever. 
 
The repercussions of such conflicts may result in negative effects on the group’s subsidiary’s trading 
operations, and this would in turn affect D Foods Group. As at the date of this report, the Group is 
not negatively impacted by the ongoing conflict in Ukraine. The D Foods Group is nevertheless 
expected to be negatively impacted in the short to medium term as costs are expected to rise 
generally throughout the economies and the industries in which it operates; and specifically for costs 
pertaining to freight, gas and food consumables. 
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26 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD (continued) 

In view of this, management together with the directors, continue to actively monitor all developments 
taking place internationally to take any action that might be necessary in the eventuality that 
developments in the conflict start to impact the D Foods Group performance and trading operations. 




